Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2016

Kachina Choate, Plaintiff-Appellant vs. Ars-Fresno LLC, a California Limited Liability Company, Defendant-Appellee.

Utah Court of Appeals

I. STATEMENT OF JURSIDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction to decide this appeal under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j).

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the required six jurors have sufficient evidence to find Kachina more than 49% at fault for the accident that injured her, where she was using a pedestrian walkway on ARS's property as a walking path and slipped on a patch of invisible black ice which was known to be a recurring safety issue affecting the pedestrian walkway by ARS, the causes of which ARS had not adequately repaired despite their knowledge?

This issue is preserved on appeal as it was raised by Plaintiff-Appellant's Motion for New Trial filed in the District Court on July 15th, 2015.

APPLICABLE STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

"A trial court has discretion in determining whether to grant or deny a motion for a new trial, and [appellate courts] will not reverse a trial court's decision absent clear abuse of that discretion." State v. Harmon, 956 P.2d 262, 266 (Utah 1998) (citing State v. Wetzel, 868 P.2d 64, 70 (Utah 1993).

III. RULES WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE OF OR OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THIS APPEAL

Rule 59 of the <u>Utah Rules of Civil Procedure</u> provides , in pertinent part:

(a) <u>Grounds</u>. Except as limited by Rule 61, a new trial may be granted to any party on any issue for any of the following reasons:

. . .

(a)(6) insufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict or other decision...

<u>Utah Code Ann. § 78B-5-818</u> provides, in pertinent part:

(2) A person seeking recovery may recover from any defendant or group of defendants whose fault, combined with the fault of persons immune from suit and nonparties to whom fault is allocated, exceeds the fault of the person seeking recovery prior to any reallocation of fault made under Subsection 78B-5-819(2).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF PROCEEDING

This personal injury case arose from a slip-and-fall accident that occurred at about 4:47 PM on Friday December 28, 2012, on the icy northwest store walkway of Defendant-Appellee ARS's property located at 680 East 400 South in Salt Lake City.

This case was tried before the Honorable Judge Paige Peterson on June 16-19, 2015. The jury unanimously determined that both Ms. Choate and ARS Fresno had causal fault; but the required number of six jurors determined that Ms. Choate had more harm-causing fault than ARS did; and so the jury never determined the amount of Ms. Choate's damages sustained as a result of the subject incident. The Court entered Judgment in favor of ARS on July 2, 2015. Ms. Choate moved for a new trial under URCP 59(a) on July 15, 2015.

As a result of the incident, Ms. Choate sustained significant and lasting, inoperable, left foot and ankle injuries and bilateral plantar fasciitis that causes pain and renders her less mobile. The trial Court should have granted a new trial on Plaintiff's motion for the same, and she now appeals that decision.

B. FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND BRIEF HISTORY OF PROCEEDINGS

Plaintiff-Appellant Kachina Choate was injured on December 28th, 2012 at 4:47 PM. (R. III.108). It was the first day since Christmas that it had not snowed in Salt Lake City, and temperatures had been freezing or near it at the airport since the holiday (R. III.72-75). Kachina was walking with her mother, Bernadine Choate around the vicinity of the Shell convenience store owned by Defendant-Appellee ARS Fresno LLC.

Kachina and Bernadine were in the area that day to do some grocery shopping. There was a break in the weather after three days with snow, Bernadine called it "warmer than it had been," although the two were still dressed warmly (R. I. 9). Both Bernadine and Kachina were wearing tennis shoes (R.I.10, III.96). Kachina was carrying a grocery bag or possibly two from their stop at Whole Foods in addition to her purse (R. III. 98).

Kachina and her mother walked along the public sidewalk, navigating some clearly visible accumulated ice and snow without incident (R. I. 11). Kachina testified that she'd never had issues navigating winter conditions in the shoes she was wearing prior to the accident (R. III. 154). Kachina's shoes were admitted into evidence and are in good repair.

The Choate's continued along the sidewalk on 700 East until they got to the corner of ARS's property, the Shell gas station, and then decided to take a shortcut through the property (R. I. 12). The two had taken this route before; the pair would make a few stops at local grocery stores, parking at Smith's, heading to Whole Foods and then visiting Trader Joe's before returning home (R.I.6). They had taken the shortcut through ARS's parking lot before on their way from Whole Foods to Trader Joe's (R.I.12). Normally Kachina and Bernadine would walk through the parking lot or gas pump area in front of the Shell station (R.I.13).

On December 28th, 2012, Kachina and Bernadine took a different route through ARS's property (R. I.13). There were several cars parked at the pumps and the two walked between the pumps and the front of the store itself to avoid them (R. III.101). While walking on the asphalt in front of the store, Kachina observed a car pulling into the property towards them

and stepped up onto the concrete walkway at the front of the store to avoid it (R. III.102).

Kachina observed that the walkway appeared wet, but did not see any accumulated ice (R. III. 103). She walked across the sidewalk in a normal fashion, and after 3 steps without incident, she slipped on a patch of black ice and fell suddenly to the concrete sidewalk, landing with her left leg bent (R. III. 106). Bernadine, who was walking behind her, observed that she had fallen suddenly and landed awkwardly (R. I. 36).

Kachina had slipped on black ice which had accumulated on ARS's pedestrian walkway (variously referred to in testimony as the sidewalk, walkway and "catwalk" (R. II.111)). Kachina was unable to see the ice before falling, but once on the ground, she saw and felt it. (R.III.107, III. 124). Bernadine approached to find that Kachina had been injured in the fall. (R. I.17). Bernadine then entered the store to fill out an accident report while Kachina remained seated on the ground in front of the store for three to five minutes (R. III. 149). Kachina was able to regain her feet and hobble into the store where she maintained her feet by leaning against the counter while talking with Stefan Jennings, the clerk on duty (R. I. 50-51).

There was a discussion between the Choates and Mr. Jennings at the counter which involved discussions of calling an ambulance for Kachina (R. III. 114). Kachina declined to incur the expense of an ambulance at that time as she was unable to pay for it (R. III. 115). ¹

٨

The black ice had formed due to a persistent dripping of water through the seams in the roof that occurred due to a structural defect in the building (R. II. 159-61). The building's overhang, which covered the sidewalk, was leaking water through the soffit from an uncertain cause. (R. II. 159). It was observed by multiple employees of ARS, including both Stefan Jennings and David Edward Marshall (R.II.22, II.159). The issue was a long-standing one that was discussed among ARS employees (R.II. 165-66). Stefan Jennings observed the leak through the roof soffit, with water coming down steadily at the rate of 7-8 drips per minute (R. II.53). The dripping water would cause a buildup of ice when the temperature was cold enough (R.II.53). When incompletely attended to by the employees of ARS, the area could get very slick (R. II.54), because of a tendency for the

¹ There was testimony at trial that during the conversation there was a request by one or both of the Choates for \$50 in compensation for the accident or to go to the doctor (R. II. 129). Ms Choate testified that she never asked Mr. Jennings for \$50 (R. III. 115). But Ms. Choate did testify that during discussions about the ambulance she recalls asking Mr. Jennings something similar to "who's going to pay for [the ambulance]? you?" (R. III. 115).

water coming down to freeze in the area of the accident and cause a potentially hazardous situation (R. II. 22).

٨

The ice that formed on the walkway was not only slippery but nearly invisible "black ice" (R. II.55). It was a concern that Jennings noticed, and also had been brought to his attention by customers of the store who had encountered it and reported the slippery hazard (R.II.57). The spot was a repeated concern for ARS's employees, not just because of the ice, but also because of the sloping of the adjacent walking paths and curbing (R. II.59). It was the practice of employees at the Shell station to put out ice melt on the trouble spot, early if possible to curtail the ice forming (R. II. 167).

Jennings had familiarity with the hazard, and testified that there was no reason Kachina would have been able to determine the spot was icy as opposed to just wet like the other areas of the walkway by just looking at it (R. II.66). Other testimony confirmed the pattern of black ice forming that was very difficult or nearly impossible to see (R. II. 171). Employees of ARS did not bring the issue to their boss's attention, testifying that they were never told to do so (R. II. 161). Tonya Howard, a district manager for 12 of ARS's stores was made aware of the problem with water leaking through the soffit in several of ARS's stores which were similarly

constructed (R. III. 11-13). Tonya Howard also testified that employees should have been trained on the policy and use of a "communications journal" to appropriately escalate maintenance issues like the leaking roof to management, but were not appropriately instructed (R. III. 14-15). So despite the fact that Jennings heard from regular customers to the store that it was a trouble spot, saw water coming down, and knew it posed a danger to pedestrians on the walkway, he didn't report it to his superiors (R. II.138).

There was various testimony regarding the cause and experts gave their opinions to the jury. Plaintiff's expert, Timothy Wyatt, visited the store on August 19th, and was able to observe the property during a rainstorm (R. III. 36). Mr. Wyatt observed that the top of the parapet wall around the building's roof was improperly sloped, which would allow water to flow toward the front of the store, possibly causing the dripping (R. III. 77). Mr. Wyatt was also able to directly observe water coming through the soffit in the overhang during the rainstorm (R. III. 38-39). There was some discussion that the lights in the overhang or the heat from the building may have contributed to the melting of snow that had settled on the building (R. III. 43).

At the trial, Mr. Jennings testified he was 90% sure he had placed ice melt on the pedestrian walkway between the start of his shift on December 28th and the incident (R. II. 44-45). Mr. Jennings testified that ARS employees were instructed to put down ice melt every hour (R. II. 44). Jennings also testified that there was some difficulty in addressing both the safety of the premises and dealing with customers due to ARS's practice of utilizing 'single coverage,' leaving only one employee at the store at a time (R. II. 47). Mr. Jennings clocked in at 2:53 PM, and Ms. Choate was injured at 4:47 PM (R. II. 73).

Both Kachina and Bernadine testified that while speaking with Mr.

Jennings after the accident he mentioned that he forgot, or may have forgotten, or didn't have time to place ice melt (R.I.21, III. 113). Robert Ray Duncan, a manager with ARS who arrived on the scene after the Choate's were already on their way to the hospital claimed to have observed ice melt on the walkway as well as taking a number of photographs (R. II. 107-108). The photographs were not in existence at the time of the trial. Mr. Jennings testified that he did not place ice melt between the time of the accident and the time that Mr. Duncan arrived, meaning the ice melt Mr. Duncan observed would have to have been placed before the accident. Both

Kachina and Bernadine testified that they did not see, or did not recall seeing ice melt on the walkway prior to the accident (R.I.38, R.III. 125, 127).

The Trial Court, in its Order denying Ms. Choate's motion for a new trial addresses the relevant evidence presented regarding the fault of the parties (Addendum 1).

- 1. [S]RS's employee, Stefan Jennings ("Jennings"), knew that, at times, the northeast corner of the sidewalk in front of ARS's store would become slippery with "black ice" when water leaking from the roof would freeze; that knowledge is imputed to ARS; and ARS did not inspect the roof or fix the roof leak;
- 2. ARS should have kept a communications journal pertaining to safety issues, and there was no evidence that Jennings was trained to pass on information in the communications journal;
- 3. There was no warning provided by ARS to pedestrians on its store sidewalk concerning the slippery conditions on the walk, including warning cones;
- 4. Plaintiff and her mother, Bernadine Choate, offered disputed evidence that there was no ice melt placed on the sidewalk at the time of the Accident;
- 5. ARS had single coverage at the time of the Accident, but there was overlapping coverage by Jennings and another employee David Marshall in the hours prior to the Accident;
- 6. The northeast corner of the sidewalk was known to be slippery at times, but was not barricaded off to prevent pedestrians from using it;
- 7. Plaintiff slipped and fell on "black ice" in the area of the northeast corner of the sidewalk where Mr. Jennings had seen it."

Addressing evidence showing Ms. Choate's comparative negligence,

the lower court furthered ordered:

- 1. There were three days of snow and below freezing temperatures before the Accident, the Accident happened at dusk or sunset, and this evidence should have alerted plaintiff to be more careful and for Jennings to provide a warning to pedestrians;
- 2. Jennings provided disputed testimony that he was 90 percent sure that he had placed ice melt prior to the Accident, and when another employee, Ray Duncan, came to the store to assist in finding an accident report, Mr. Duncan saw and photographed ice melt, Jennings did not place any ice melt after the Accident was reported to him and before Mr. Duncan arrived, and the placement of ice melt should have made the walkway less slippery and alerted plaintiff to the possibility of danger;
- 3. Plaintiff was wearing tennis shoes and knew she would be walking a number of blocks prior to the Accident, the shoes she was wearing were shown to the jury and were entered into evidence, and the jury must have factored in the type of shoes plaintiff was wearing and given it the weight it deserved;
- 4. Plaintiff was carrying a purse and grocery bags from items purchased at Whole Foods, and it could have affected her balance and it could have been considered by the jury in whether she was able to catch herself at the time she fell;
- 5. Plaintiff admitted that the sidewalk looked wet before she stepped onto it (at a place south of where Jennings had observed the "black ice" condition) and, though she walked several steps before she encountered the icy area, the presence of below-freezing temperatures should have alerted plaintiff of the potential for slippery conditions; and,
- 6. Plaintiff and Bernadine Choate took a shortcut through the store's property and, because the jury is presumed to have found that the plaintiff was not a trespasser, the path chosen by plaintiff to walk through the store property could have caused

the jury to conclude that there was some danger in choosing this path"

[...]Testimony by a number of witnesses at trial was that the sidewalk was not consistently dangerous, but depended on weather conditions[...]"

[...]The jury considered disputed issues at trial, including whether ice melt was placed on the sidewalk before the Accident and where the Accident took place in comparison to the roof leak, the evidence was sufficient for the jury to have decided in favor of either party."

(Addendum 1 <u>Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial and Granting, In Part, and Denying, In Part, Defendant's Verified Memorandum of Costs</u>)

The Jury found that ARS was at fault, that ARS's fault was a cause of Kachina's harm, that Kachina was at fault, and that Kachina's fault was a cause of her harm (Addendum 2 Verdict). The required six jurors found that Kachina was 60% at fault and the jury did not reach the issue of damages (Addendum 2).

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

@

Kachina Choate was acting as a reasonably careful and unlucky pedestrian taking a shortcut. She was injured on a pedestrian walkway which periodically developed a serious safety hazard for pedestrians due to an unaddressed structural defect which was known to ARS. A jury

lacked sufficient evidence to determine that Choate was 60% at fault where ARS knew of the defect and failed to make it's premises safe.

The path Kachina chose through ARS's property was irrelevant to the allocation of fault, as she'd already stepped onto a pedestrian walkway and gotten safely underway when she hit the hazard which caused her injury.

The allocation of liability should be made on the basis of the relative culpability of both parties and under a duration analysis or multiplicity of acts analysis, the finding that ARS was anything less than 51% at fault is manifestly against the weight of the evidence. Pedestrians in and around shops are not acting unreasonable in carrying shopping bags or wearing tennis shoes, and to the extent Kachina should have noticed ice melt on ARS's walkway and acted with increased caution in traversing the area, the hidden and insidious nature of the hazard presented by recurrently forming black ice meant that ARS was still more at fault for the accident which injured Ms. Choate where ARS's actions in addressing the hazard were manifestly and evidently insufficient to make their premises safe.

VI. ARGUMENT

٠

(

The Jury's Verdict That ARS Was Causally At Fault Was Appropriate.

"The owner of a business is not a guarantor that his business invitees will not slip and fall ... [h]e is charged with the duty to use reasonable care to maintain the floor of his establishment in a reasonably safe condition for his patrons." Jex v. JRA, Inc., 2008 UT 67, ¶ 25, 196 P.3d 576, 582 (quoting Schnuphase v. Storehouse Markets, 918 P.2d 476, 478 (Utah 1996)) (internal quotation marks omitted)

Owners of presmises are liable where there exists "some unsafe condition of a permanent nature, such as: in the structure of the building, [...] which was created or chosen by the defendant (or his agents), or for which he is responsible. Allen v. Federated Dairy Farms, Inc., 538 P.2d 175, 176 (Utah 1975).

"[I]n cases where temporary unsafe conditions are created by owners, the notice requirement also does not apply. We emphasize, however, that "negligence will not be presumed" in either permanent or temporary unsafe condition cases. [...I]n temporary unsafe condition cases, a plaintiff also must prove that the owner acted negligently either in creating or failing to remedy the temporary unsafe condition. Jex v. JRA, Inc., 2008 UT 67, \P 26, 196 P.3d 576, 582 (Internal citations omitted).

The evidence at trial demonstrated that ARS knew of both a structural defect in the roof of their building, as well as the recurrent development of dangerous black ice on a pedestrian walkway beneath that roof as a result of the structural defect. The expert testimony provided at trial, both by Plaintiff and Defendant's experts, suggested that the defect and resulting dangerous condition on the walkway should have been repaired upon discovery of the same.

Further evidence, including the testimony of Tonya Howard, showed systemic failures on the part of ARS to address the hazard on their walkway, including the lack of a communications journal for Stefan Jennings to escalate to his superiors the complaints of customers who had witnessed the slippery condition on the walkway and reported to him. The systemic failures in this case were even more egregious, as Ms. Howard testified that there were leaks and structural issues with a number of ARS's stores of similar construction to the store where Kachina Choate was injured.

ARS failed in its duty to make it's premises safe. The jury's finding that they were at fault for Kachina's injury in slipping on the pedestrian

walkway in front of the store confirms that there was a danger which had been inadequately addressed.

The Jury's Verdict That Kachina was More At Fault Than ARS Was Against The Manifest Weight of the Evidence.

In determining the relative fault of the parties, "the kind of comparison of fault that a jury ought to make[in] allocate[ing] liability should be made on the basis of the relative culpability of both parties.

Harris v. Utah Transit Auth., 671 P.2d 217, 222 (Utah 1983).

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