Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2016

Kachina Choate, Plaintiff/ Appellant, v. Ars-Fresno, LLC, a California Company, Defendant/ Appellee.

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL, BECAUSE THE JURY FOUND THAT ARS-FRESNO'S TESTIMONY WAS MORE CREDIBLE THAN K. CHOATE'S TESTIMONY

There were numerous, material conflicts in the testimony offered by K. Choate's witnesses compared to ARS-Fresno's witnesses. "[T]he existence of conflicting evidence, alone, does not justify overturning a verdict for insufficient evidence." *Avalos v. TL Custom, LLC*, 2014 UT App 150, ¶ 29 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Indeed, this Court should not disturb the verdict as long as "some evidence and reasonable inferences" support it. *Id.* In receiving Instruction No. 8, the jurors were properly instructed by the trial court that they were "the excusive judges of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight of the evidence." Neither party objected to Instruction No. 8. Moreover, Instruction No. 8 accurately states the applicable standard under Utah law for denying motions for new trial where jury verdicts depend on determinations of the credibility of witnesses. *Id.* (it is

18

0

۲

0

٢

 \bigcirc

6

6

0

the exclusive function of the jury to weigh the evidence and to determine the credibility of the witnesses).

In *Bridzette Lane v. D. C.*, 104 F. Supp. 3d 7 (D.D.C. 2015), after a wrongful death verdict was entered in favor of the defendants, the court denied the plaintiff's motion for new trial. The court noted that, unlike the narrow review by an appellate court of the denial of a motion for new trial, "[i]n granting a motion for new trial on the grounds that the verdict was against the weight of the evidence, the trial judge risks usurping the prime function of the jury – to weigh the evidence and determine the credibility of the witnesses." *Id.* at 9 (citation omitted); *see also Metromedia Co. v. Fugazy*, 983 F.2d 350, 363 (2d Cir. 1992) (where the resolution of the issues depends on an assessment of the credibility of witnesses it is proper for the court to refrain from granting a new trial).

At trial, critical testimony by K. Choate and B. Choate concerning the cause of the Accident conflicted with the testimony of multiple other witnesses. The jurors could not have found K. Choate 60% at fault if they believed her testimony, as corroborated by B. Choate, in the many instances it contradicted the testimony of other witnesses.

K. Choate and B. Choate claimed that the Accident happened, because there was no ice melt on the Walkway where she walked or where she fell. By

0

6

٢

 \bigcirc

۲

6

 \bigcirc

contrast, Jennings testified that he was 90% sure that he applied ice melt before the Accident and Duncan testified that there was ice melt on the Walkway, which he photographed, when he arrived after the Accident. Jennings testified that he was busy with customers in the Store and did not apply ice melt between the time the Accident was reported to him and when Duncan arrived 10-15 minutes later.

K. Choate and B. Choate testified that Jennings stated that he had just started working at the time of the Accident and had not had time to apply ice melt to the Walkway before the Accident. However, the time records admitted into evidence and the testimony of multiple witnesses were undisputed that Jennings had been working for 1 hour and 54 minutes before the Accident. In addition, the suggestion that Jennings did not have time to apply ice melt before the Accident, because he was too busy with customers working "single coverage," was contradicted by the time records and testimony proving that he worked "double coverage" with Marshall for 51 minutes before the Accident.

In Instruction No. 8 the jury was instructed that, in judging the weight and credibility of the witnesses, the jury had the right to take into consideration the witnesses' biases and interest in the result. In weighing the contradictory testimony of K. Choate and Jennings, the jury may have believed that K. Choate had a bias and interest in obtaining a favorable verdict, which Jennings

20

 \bigcirc

٢

6

0

٢

0

did not have. Specifically, when Jennings testified, not only was he no longer employed by ARS-Fresno, after his employment terminated he demonstrated his bias against ARS-Fresno by filing a wage claim at the Utah Labor Commission. Similarly, as a former employee, Jennings had no interest in the result, since his trial testimony would not affect his continued employment.

K. Choate and B. Choate testified that K. Choate hobbled or limped in and out of the Store and her injuries should have been obvious to Jennings. In contrast, Jennings testified that K. Choate did not appear injured and when she left he saw her walk toward the area where the Accident happened. When asked by Jennings, K. Choate declined an ambulance, but she asked him whether he was going to pay her for the Accident as though he was the owner of ARS-Fresno.

Finally, K. Choate contended that there was a roof leak which caused water to drip every 8 seconds on the Walkway in the area where the Accident happened and that, even if the temperature was below freezing, heat produced by lighting could have caused water to drip on the Walkway. However, Jennings and Marshall testified that water dripped off the roof only when melting and thawing occurred. Marshall testified that lighting did not produce enough heat to melt snow on the roof. ARS-Fresno's expert contractor, Taylor, testified that there was not a roof leak and that lighting did not cause an increase

0

٢

 \bigcirc

٢

0

0

6

0

 \bigcirc

0

in temperatures on the roof. Taylor explained that the parapet cap was relaxed which meant that, in above-freezing conditions, water could drip off the front edge of the parapet roof. The Records showed that it was dusk or sunset at the time of the Accident and it was below-freezing. The Records further demonstrated that there was no sunshine and it was not above freezing for three days before the Accident. Thus, K. Choate did not prove that, in the conditions which existed for before the Accident, water dripped off the roof down to the Walkway.

The contradictory trial testimony presented by K. Choate's witnesses, compared to ARS-Fresno's witnesses, covered the issues that were essential for the jury to decide the parties' comparative fault. The jury could not have found K. Choate 60% negligent without finding that ARS-Fresno's witnesses were more credible than her witnesses. *See Proctor v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 2013 UT App 226, ¶ 24, 311 P.3d 564 (in reviewing a jury verdict the appellate court views the evidence in the light most supportive of the verdict and assumes the jury believed those aspects of the evidence which sustain it).

K. Choate does not have the comprehensive and persuasive kind of evidence sufficient to meet her heavy burden to overturn the trial court's ruling denying her motion for new trial. The verdict should not be reversed unless "the evidence to support the verdict was completely lacking or was so slight and

22

0

0

6

0

0

 \bigcirc

0

unconvincing as to make the verdict plainly unreasonable and unjust." *Sharp v. Williams*, 915 P.2d at 497.

The evidence that K. Choate was more at fault than ARS-Fresno for the Accident was not completely lacking, slight, or unconvincing. Specifically, there was extensive and corroborated testimony by Duncan, Jennings, Marshall, and Taylor, to show that ice melt was on the Walkway and that, because of the three days of freezing conditions before the Accident, there was not a roof leak and water did not drip down to the Walkway. This Court should refrain from disturbing the verdict, since ARS-Fresno admitted some evidence and reasonable inferences to support the verdict.

Therefore, the verdict finding K. Choate 60% at fault was not plainly unreasonable and unjust.

II. THE JURY FOUND THAT K. CHOATE WAS 60% COMPARATIVELY AT FAULT, SINCE SHE SHOULD HAVE BEEN MORE CAREFUL IN WINTER WEATHER CONDITIONS

In the Special Verdict the jury answered Question No. 5 that K. Choate was the primary cause of the Accident. Indeed, the jury's verdict finding K. Choate 60% at fault meant the jury concluded that she was significantly more negligent than ARS-Fresno. *See Proctor v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 2013 UT App 226, ¶ 24 (in reviewing a jury verdict the appellate court views the

@

0

0

Ø

0

6

0

evidence in the light most supportive of the verdict). In other words, the jury did not find that the parties' comparative fault was a close call.

In her brief, K. Choate has cited several Utah decisions where the jury found that the opposing parties' were each 50% comparatively negligent. *See Sharp v. Williams*, 915 P.2d at 497-99; *Nelson v. Trujillo*, 657 P.2d 730 (Utah 1982). The verdict in this action was markedly different, because the jury found a 20% difference in the relative negligence of the parties. On the other hand, K. Choate has cited other Utah decisions where the jury found that the defendants were 0% negligent. *See Harris v. Utah Transit Auth.*, 671 P.2d 217 (Utah 1983); *Ortiz v. Geneva Rock Products, Inc.*, 939 P.2d 1213 (Utah Ct. App. 1997); *Holmes v. Nelson*, 326 P.2d 722 (Utah 1958). Again, the verdict in this action was vastly different, because the jury found that ARS-Fresno was 40% at fault.

The 20% difference in the parties' comparative negligence means that K. Choate has a two-step burden to reverse the jury's verdict under Section 78B-5-818. K. Choate would be barred from recovery of damages unless this Court holds that ARS-Fresno's fault was more than 50%. In other words, it is not enough to persuade this Court that the verdict finding K. Choate 60% at fault was erroneous, to recover damages K. Choate must prove that the jury's verdict was in error by more than 10 %. If this Court cannot conclude that the verdict

24

0

0

0

٢

0

 \bigcirc

 \bigcirc

finding K. Choate 60% at fault was 10% too high, there would be no reason to reverse the trial court, since K. Choate's recovery would be the same.

Utah opinions where parties appealed wider differences in jury verdicts have more precedential value in considering this action. For example, in *Bonnivier v. Valley Asphalt*, 2000 UT App 117, the plaintiff appealed the trial court's denial of a motion for a new trial after the jury found that he was 90% at fault and defendant was 10% at fault for an auto-motorcycle accident. At trial several witnesses testified that they did not see plaintiff on his motorcycle at an intersection, because he was too close behind defendant's vehicle. Plaintiff testified that he was close to the vehicle, because it was driving at a slower rate of speed and he was preparing to pass it. The trial court's ruling was affirmed with minimal discussion, since this testimony was sufficient to support the verdict.

K. Choate relies on *Wilhelm v. City of Great Falls*, 685 P.2d 350 (Mont. 1984), a decision where the jury found the homeowners 90% comparatively negligent in their nuisance action for smoke, stench and litter from defendants' city dump. However, the Montana Supreme Court was reviewing the trial court's order granting a new trial. An appeal of a ruling granting a new trial is substantially different from the appeal of a denial of a new trial. In particular, a trial judge has maximum latitude in exercising discretion to grant a motion for

1236390.1

0

6

0

6

0

0

@

0

0

new trial, since the trial judge has heard and seen the evidence and is best suited to evaluate the claim that it was insufficient to justify the verdict. *Nelson v*. *Trujillo*, 657 P.2d at 731-32 (there is a different standard of appellate review of trial court decisions on motions for new trial, depending on whether the court denied or granted the motion). This may explain the reason that the Montana Supreme Court's only explanation for affirming the trial court's order was that there was insufficient evidence that the homeowners were 90% comparatively negligent for the nuisance merely by building their home near the city dump.

The evidence that K. Choate was 60% at fault for the Accident was not effectively disputed by K. Choate during trial. K. Choate did not dispute that the temperatures for three days before the Accident were below freezing and that there was no sunshine. K. Choate did not dispute that the afternoon of the Accident it was never above freezing and that it was dusk or sunset at the time of the Accident. K. Choate admitted that she knew she would be walking a number of blocks before the Accident. K. Choate testified that while driving and walking before the Accident she saw snow and ice on the roads and sidewalks and, while walking on the sidewalk near the Store, she saw a pile of snow frozen on the ground. Nevertheless, K. Choate conceded that she was not wearing winter shoes and she was carrying a purse and grocery bags. K. Choate, as corroborated by B. Choate, testified that she saw that the Walkway

26

6

0

0

٢

0

6

was wet before the Accident, but B. Choate did not remember them being extremely careful in the way they walked.

Therefore, at trial K. Choate did not effectively dispute that her comparative negligence was equal to, or greater than, ARS-Fresno's negligence.

III. THE JURY VERDICT FINDING THAT K. CHOATE WAS 60% NEGLIGENT AND ARS-FRESNO WAS 40% NEGLIGENT WAS OVERWHELMINGLY SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE

ARS-Fresno's primary liability defenses were that there was sufficient ice melt on the Walkway and that K. Choate should have been more careful in walking in winter weather conditions. Whether there was adequate ice melt and how careful K. Choate should have been before the Accident are fact-intensive questions that were decided by the jury and should not be overturned by an appellate court.

To overturn a jury verdict "places a difficult burden on the challenging party." *Selvage v. J.J. Johnson & Assocs.*, 910 P.2d at 1257. To reverse a jury verdict the appellant must show that it is against the clear weight of the evidence by marshaling all of the evidence supporting the verdict and demonstrating that when viewed in a light most favorable to the verdict there is insufficient evidence to support it. *Selvage v. J.J. Johnson & Assocs.*, 910 P.2d 1252, 1257 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). This Court will "assume that the jury

1236390.1

0

6

0

 \bigcirc

0

6

0

0

0

believed those aspects of the evidence which sustain its findings and judgment." Stevensen 3rd East, LC v. Watts, 2009 UT App 137, ¶ 26, 210 P.3d 977 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

K. Choate attempted to meet her burden to marshal the evidence by reciting a list of facts. Most of these facts are arguments, or were used by K. Choate at trial to argue, that ARS-Fresno was negligent, but these arguments were rejected by the jury. More importantly, K. Choate failed to consider the numerous other facts and reasonable inferences that supported the verdict. If this Court assumes the jury believed the following additional facts and inferences supporting the verdict, the weight of the evidence was not clearly insufficient to support the jury's verdict:

(1) Jennings was 90% sure that he had placed ice melt prior to the Accident and when Duncan came to the Store to assist Jennings, Duncan saw and photographed ice melt, Jennings did not place any ice melt after the Accident was reported to him and before Duncan arrived.

(2) K. Choate and B. Choate observed that the Walkway looked wet before the Accident, but despite knowledge that it may be below freezing B. Choate did not remember them being extremely careful in the way they walked.

(3) K. Choate and B. Choate took a shortcut through the Store property that Jennings testified was weird or strange, because he had never seen pedestrians that were not customers walk across the property at an angle to walk on the Walkway.

(4) There were three days of snow and below freezing temperatures before the Accident, the Accident

0

0

6

٢

 \bigcirc

 \bigcirc

6

happened at dusk or sunset, K. Choate saw snow and ice on roads and sidewalks before the Accident.

(5) K. Choate was not wearing winter shoes, but she knew she would be walking a number of blocks prior to the Accident.

(6) K. Choate was carrying a purse and grocery bags at the time of the Accident.

(7) The Walkway did not consistently have ice on it from water dripping from the roof, since it depended on the weather conditions.

(8) There was disputed evidence concerning where the Accident happened on the Walkway in comparison to where water had been reported to drip from the roof.

(9) K. Choate and B. Choate testified that Jennings said that he had just started working before the Accident and he did not have time to apply ice melt, but the evidence was undisputed that he had been working for 1 hour and 54 minutes before the Accident and Jennings and Marshall had worked together for 51 minutes before the Accident.

(10) Taylor's expert opinions were that the relaxed parapet cap was not a breach of the duty of reasonable care and that there was not a roof leak.

If this Court assumes that the jury believed those aspects of these

additional facts and inferences which sustained its verdict, the verdict was not

against the clear weight of the evidence. Indeed, the clear weight of the

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